2010-WC-00792 T

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

### **I. Issue 1**

Whether the Circuit Court has the authority to base its decision on findings of facts that are not supported by credible evidence when it held that the date of the accident occurred on August 26, 2005; even though Appellant repeatedly stated in his deposition that he was not sure of the date of the accident, and that the paperwork from the hospital would prove the date of injury occurred on August 22, 2005.

### **II. Issue 2**

Whether the Circuit Court has the authority to base its decision on findings of facts that are not supported by credible evidence when it held that August 22, 2005 was the first mentioning of the date of injury even though the Appellant testified that the date of the accident was located on his medical records from King Daughters Hospital and the Court acknowledged that the records from King Daughters Hospital showed the Appellant coming into the hospital complaining of back pain on August 22, 2005.

### **III. Issue 3**

Whether the Circuit Court has the authority to base its decision on findings of facts that is not supported by credible evidence when it held that the accident was not reported even though Appellant testified that he reported the accident to his supervisors, Randy and Jeff and no evidence was presented to contradict the existence of a supervisor named Jeff or that the accident was reported to him.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a Workers Compensation Case on appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court of Lincoln County affirming the Full Commission Order that reversed the Administrative Judge's decision, which held that Appellant Terrence Bates (hereinafter Appellant), suffered a work related back injury in August of 2005.

In April of 2005, Appellant began working for Employer, Dedicated Management Group, LLC (hereinafter Employer), unloading trailers. Appellant had an average weekly wage of \$311.58. The employer had sufficient employees to require workers' compensation insurance and, as such, contracted with Employers Insurance of Wausau, A Mutual Company as the carrier (hereinafter Carrier).

In August of 2005, Employer was covered by Carrier for workers' compensation benefits. Also in August of 2005, Appellant was working for Employer at McLane's in Brookhaven unloading groceries. Appellant drove an automatic jack used to unload said groceries. Because the automatic jack does not have power steering, Appellant had to use force, leaning to the left and right, in an effort to turn the jack. After continuously turning the jack, Appellant felt a pain in his back. At the time of the incident, Appellant was within the course and scope of his employment with Employer.

Appellant promptly informed his supervisors, Jeff and Randy, of the shooting pains in his back. (Rec. p. 30) Appellant was instructed to go to King's Daughters Hospital in Brookhaven. While being examined by the emergency room doctor, Appellant informed the doctor that he was injured on the job due to faulty equipment. (Rec. p. 28)

On May 7, 2008, a hearing on the merits was conducted exclusively on the issue of whether or not an injury occurred to Appellant on or about August 26, 2005 and whether Appellant was within the course and scope of his employment with Employer. At the hearing, Appellant had Michael Butler (hereinafter Mr. Butler) make an offer of proof and it was argued by Employer/Carrier that this was the first notice of the testimony of Mr. Butler. Mr. Butler testified he gave Appellant a faulty jack and saw him using it in August of 2005.

On January 9, 2009, the administrative law judge stated that Appellant had proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellant had suffered a work related injury to back in August of 2005. The judge also ordered that the issue of permanent disability, if any, would be determined at a future hearing. The administrative law judge admitted all the testimony of Mr. Butler as an offer of proof (Rec. p. 46), but determined that the testimony was not prejudicial to the employer/carrier, as it was not a pivotal piece of evidence for the Appellant proving the occurrence of a work related accident.

On March 19, 2009, the full commission issued an opinion letter following an appeal of the case by the Employer/Carrier. The order addressed a number of issues. The first issue was the date of the accident as being alleged as August 26, 2005 in both the Petition to Controvert and in Claimant's Deposition. Appellant had the following exchange with counsel for Employer/Carrier in deposition.

Question. "And on what date did you sustain this accident that you alleged?"

Answer. "I don't remember the actual date, but I know it was in August."

Question. "Of '05?"

Answer. "Yes."

Question. "Okay. But what date was it?"

Answer. "I can't recall. My lawyer will probably have that on file, though."

Question. "Now, how would he know it if you don't know it?"

Answer. "Well, we had my paperwork from doctors and such. When I went in we had it all on files.

Question. "So that's where—the date of August 26, 2005, because that the date you've alleged in your lawsuit?"

Answer. "Yes."

Question. "So, to the best of your recollection and knowledge, that is the correct date?"

Answer. "Yes."

Employer/Carrier's Exhibit #2, p.8-9

Secondly, the Commission stated that the evidence presented conflicts with Claimant's allegation that the injury occurred August 26, 2005. The Commission stated the hospital records from Kings Daughters Hospital indicate Appellant was injured August 22, 2005. The Commission assigned error to the date of the injury.

Third, the Commission stated Claimant's conflicting statements regarding the reporting of his injury called the credibility of his testimony in question.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is unsupportable finding of fact that the date of injury was August 26, 2005. The Commission erred when it held that since the Appellant was not working on August 26, 2005 that no injury occurred. The Commission neglected the fact that the Appellant himself repeatedly stated in deposition that he was not sure of the day of the accident. The date of the accident being August 26, 2005 is not supported by any credible evidence, and, as such, is an unsupportable finding of fact.

It is false that August 22, 2005 was the first mentioning of that date of injury. The Commission erred when it held that August 22, 2005 was the first mentioning of a date other than August 26, 2005. The Commission ignored the deposition testimony of the Appellant in which he stated that the date of the accident is on his paperwork from the doctors. Although the Commission acknowledges that the hospital records from King Daughters Hospital in which the Appellant first made his complaints began on August 22, 2005, the Commission still held that August 22, 2005 was the first mentioning of the reported injury.

It was not in error for the administrative law judge to find the accident was reported. In Appellant's deposition he testified that he reported the accident to his supervisors, Randy and Jeff. The Appellee failed to present any evidence to contradict the existence of a supervisor named Jeff or that the accident was reported to him. A decision of the Commission cannot be based on unsupportable findings of fact. The allegation that the accident was not reported is not supported, as Appellant testified in his deposition that the report was made to Jeff, and no evidence was presented to contradict it.

## ARGUMENT

“In reviewing the decision of a chancery or circuit court regarding an agency action, this Court applies the same standard employed by the lower court. [The] Court will not disturb an agency's ruling unless the decision of the administrative agency "(1) was unsupported by substantial evidence; (2) was arbitrary or capricious; (3) was beyond the power of the administrative agency to make; or (4) violated some statutory or constitutional right of the complaining party.” *Parchman v. Amwood Products, Inc.*, 988 So.2d 346, 356 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Mississippi Sierra Club v. Mississippi Dep't of Env'tl. Quality*, 819 So.2d 515, 519 (Miss.2002)).

“[The] Court will overturn a Commission's decision for an error of law, *Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So.2d 1243, 1247 (Miss.1991); *Mississippi Workmen's Compensation § 272* (3d ed. 1982), or an unsupportable finding of fact. *Metal Trims Industries v. Stovall*, 562 So.2d 1293, 1297 (Miss.1990).” *Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 So. 2d 823, 826 (Miss. 1991).

### **I. It is unsupportable finding of fact that the date of injury was August 26, 2005.**

The Commission first argued the date of the accident is incorrect, and therefore, there is error. The Commission held that because the Appellant was not working on August 26, 2005 (the date of injury stated in the Petition to Controvert), no injury occurred. The Commission neglected the fact that the Appellant himself repeatedly stated in deposition that he was not sure of the day of the accident. The Appellant also referred the Employer/Carrier to his medical records. The medical records Appellant referenced informed the Commission that the Appellant was injured on August 22, 2005. The only time Appellant provided a different answer as to the

date of the injury was during his deposition, which was in response to question from Employer/Carrier directing him to August 26, 2005. A decision of the Commission cannot be based on unsupportable findings of fact. *Metal* at 1297. The date of the accident being August 26, 2005 is not supported by any credible evidence and as such is an unsupportable finding of fact.

**II. It is false that August 22, 2005 was the first mentioning of that date of injury.**

The Commission secondly argued that August 22, 2005 was the first mentioning of a date other than August 26, 2005. The Commission ignored the deposition testimony of Appellant in which he stated that the date of the accident is in his medical records. The Commission even acknowledged that the records from Kings Daughters Hospital show Appellant came into the hospital complaining of back pain on both August 22, 2005 and August 24, 2005. The record reflecting August 22, 2005 was an official part of the record, as the Commission was able to examine it prior to making a final decision. A decision of the Commission cannot be based on unsupportable findings of fact. *Metal* at 1297. The fact is that the Commission directed themselves to a point in the official record where August 22, 2005 was mentioned as a date of injury.

**III. It was not in error for the administrative law judge to find the accident was reported.**