IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TERRIENCE BATES

APPELLANT

VS.

DEDICATED MANAGEMENT GROUP, LLC AND EMPLOYERS INSURANCE OF WAUSAU, A MUTUAL COMPANY



CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Circuit Court Judge may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Dedicated Management Group, LLC, Appellee;
- 2. Employers Insurance of Wausau, A Mutual Company, Appellee;
- 3. Terrience Bates; Appellant
- Honorable Liles Williams, Chairman
 Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission
 1428 Lakeland Drive
 P.O. Box 5300

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. Whether the Commission's decision denying compensability of claimant's alleged work-related injury is supported by substantial evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a review of the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, reversing the Administrative Judge's Order and denying the compensability of claimant's alleged work-related injury. The employer and carrier submit the Commission's ruling is supported by substantial evidence and should be upheld by this Court.

A. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

Claimant, Terrience Bates ("Bates"), began working at Dedicated Management Group, LLC ("Dedicated") in April 2005. On March 21, 2006, Bates filed a Petition to Controvert, claiming he injured his back at work on August 26, 2005. Following the trial of this cause, the Administrative Judge entered an Order on January 9, 2009, finding that Bates had sustained a work-related injury to his lower back sometime "during August, 2005."

Aggrieved by this decision, Dedicated and the carrier appealed to the Full Commission. Following a review of the record, the Commission entered an Order on April 30, 2009, reversing the Order of the Administrative Judge and denying Bates' claim. Bates appealed to the Circuit of Court of Lincoln County, seeking reversal of the Commission's decision. The Circuit Court of Lincoln County affirmed the Commission's decision. Bates has now appealed to this Court. However, Dedicated and the carrier submit that the Full Commission's Order is supported by substantial evidence and it should be upheld.

B. Statement of Relevant Facts

Bates was working for Dedicated at McLane's in Brookhaven, Mississippi unloading groceries at the time of his alleged injury. Exhibit "2" at 10.1 Bates began working at Dedicated in April 2005, and customarily worked approximately thirty hours per week. Exhibit 1. On March 21, 2006, Bates filed a Petition to Controvert, alleging he injured his back on August 26, 2005. R. at 1. More specifically, Bates claimed he had slipped a disk while trying to maneuver a jack with no power steering. *Id.* As Bates never reported any injury, and his initial medical records did not corroborate a work injury, the Employer and Carrier disputed compensability. R. at 3. Interestingly, Bates maintained his injury occurred on August 26, 2005 but attempted to change the date of his alleged injury at the hearing on the merits. Tr. at 42.

Bates maintained he was injured while operating a faulty jack that was out of power steering fluid. Ex. 2 at 11-12. According to Bates, he was using his whole body to force the jack to move when he felt pain in his back. *Id.* In his deposition, Bates testified he reported his injury to his supervisors, Jeff or Randy. *Id. at 10*. He testified that he left work and went to King's Daughters Hospital in Brookhaven, Mississippi on the same day of his injury. *Id. at 11*. Bates further testified he informed the doctor that his injury had occurred at work while using faulty equipment. *Id.*

At trial, though, Bates' testimony changed. Bates claimed he first felt pain in his back while bending over cutting cardboard. Tr. at 36. Then he stated bumping the pallet jack caused his pain Tr. at 37. Bates also stated he felt pain every time he bent over his last day of work. *Id.*

¹For purposes of Appellees' brief, citations to those exhibits offered into evidence at trial of this cause, as compiled by the Secretary of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission are abbreviated "Ex."; citations to the trial transcript are abbreviated "Tr."; citations to the record are abbreviated "R."

His story changed once again to allege that his back began to hurt the day <u>before</u> and that he had told several co-workers his back and hip were hurting and then came to work the following day and told his supervisor he was hurting. *Id.* At trial, Bates identified the supervisors as "Eric" or "Rod". *Id. at 26*.

Bates' King's Daughter's medical records were offered into evidence at trial and contradicted his testimony. The emergency physician records reflect Bates presented to King's Daughter on August 22, 2005, complaining of right flank/hip pain and low back pain for one month and nausea and vomiting for four days with <u>no</u> history of a work injury. Ex. 3. The record actually reflected that there was no recent injury and his pain began at home. *Id*.

The King's Daughter's records also reflect that Bates returned for treatment two days later – August 24, 2005 – requesting additional time off from work and stating he had taken a pain pill from his grandmother. *Id.* The nurses' note states Bates injured himself at work on August 22, 2005, although, the physician's notes state no recent injury and pain in the back for one month which began at home. At this time, he was taken off work until August 29, 2005. *Id.*

At trial, Bates testified he did not know when his injury occurred, but suggested that his medical records would reflect the date. Tr. at 29. Throughout the course of litigation, however, Bates was certain the injury occurred on his <u>last</u> day of work at Dedicated and was certain he had been treated on that same day. Tr. at 38. Bates' pay records from Dedicated, though, refuted that story as well. According to his pay records and the testimony of the general manager, James Randall Hughes, Bates' last day of work was August 19, 2005. Tr. at 60 and Exhibit 1.

Mr. Hughes testified Bates did not report any injury to him. Tr. at 54. As to Bates' claim that he reported his injury to his supervisor, "Eric," Mr. Hughes stated there is not a supervisor named Eric. Tr. at 55. Further, no injury had been reported to Rob. *Id.* Mr. Hughes testified Bates brought in a work excuse on August 22, 2005, stating he had been injured, but never told anyone the injury allegedly happened at work. Tr. at 55. Due to the fact that Bates did not return to work at the end of the work excuse Mr. Hughes had received, Bates was terminated. Tr. at 53 - 54. As to Bates' allegations the pallet jack was faulty and without power steering fluid, Mr. Hughes testified that a pallet jack does not even have power steering and, thus power steering fluid is not needed. Tr. at 59.

At the hearing on the merits, Bates may have been unsure of the date of his accident, but he admitted that he was injured and went to the ER on that same day. Tr. at 38. He also testified that he did not return to work after he sought treatment at the ER. Tr. at 27. According the King's Daughter's medical admissions, the first time Bates was treated for back pain was on August 22, 2005. Exhibit 3. However, according to Mr. Hughes and Bates' wage records, Bates' last day was August 19, 2005. Exhibit 1 and Tr. at 60. A cursory reading of the hearing transcript reveals that, despite all his efforts, Bates simply could not invent a story that satisfied all the facts. For this reason, the Commission was correct in denying the claim.

As the record clearly supports the conclusions of the Full Commission, the Employer and Carrier petition this Court to affirm the Full Commission's Order as it is supported by the overwhelming testimony and substantial evidence in the record.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Time and time again, the Mississippi Supreme Court has reiterated the narrow and limited standard of review in workers' compensation appeals:

The Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier and finder of facts in a compensation claim, the findings of the Administrative Law Judge to the contrary notwithstanding.

* * *

[An appellate court may] reverse the Commission's order only if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Smith v. Container General Corp., 559 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Miss. 1990) [quoting Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988)]. Thus, it is the Commission's decision with which this Court must concern itself, and, as is well-settled, "[t]he Commission is the finder of facts. And if those facts are based on substantial evidence [an appellate court lacks] the power to disturb them, even though that evidence would not convince [the court] were [it] the fact finders." Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler, 475 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985).

Simply stated, in workers' compensation cases, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is the ultimate finder of fact. *Natchez Equip. Co. v. Gibbs*, 623 So. 2d 270, 273 (Miss. 1993); *R.C. Petroleum, Inc. v. Hernandez*, 555 So. 2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1990). On appeal to both the Circuit Court and Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi, as to factual matters, the Commission's findings are entitled to great weight and deference. *Natchez Equip*. *Co.*, 623 So. 2d at 273.

The Commission is also the ultimate judge of the credibility of witnesses. *Miller Transporters, Inc. v. Guthrie*, 554 So. 2d 917, 918 (Miss. 1989). Further, as long as the Commission's decision contains no error of law and is based on substantial evidence, both the Circuit Court, sitting as an intermediate appellate court, and the Supreme Court must not disturb the Commission's findings, and the Commission's Order must be affirmed. *Id.; KLLM, Inc. v. Fowler*, 589 So. 2d 670, 675 (Miss. 1991); *Strickland v. M. H. McMath Gin, Inc.* 457 So. 2d 925, 928 (Miss. 1984). It is with these standards in mind that the Court must consider the instant case.

ARGUMENT

This case centers around Bates' credibility and the simple fact that the evidence does not support Bates' story of sustaining an injury at work. The Commission reviewed Bates' deposition testimony, his hearing testimony, employment records and medical records, and the Commission's Order reflects the observations and careful and thorough review of the medical evidence. As a result, the Commission correctly determined that Bates' version of events was not supported by the preponderance of credible evidence and properly denied this claim. Thereafter, the Commission properly found that Bates failed to prove his claim of a work-related injury, this decision was based on substantial evidence.

A claimant must prove he suffered a work injury "beyond speculation and conjecture." Coleman v. Chattanooga Container, 377 So. 2d 606, 608 (Miss. 1979). Indeed, contradictions in the claimant's testimony and circumstantial evidence are sufficient to rebut testimony of a work injury. Id. Regarding the absence of contemporaneous corroboration of a work injury, the Supreme Court has found that, "when a patient gives a history to a physician, which is inconsistent with allegations in a workers' compensation case, this is a significant factor in support of denial

of the claim." Raytheon Aerospace Support Services v. Miller, 861 So. 2d 330, 336 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added), citing Hudson v. Keystone Seneca Wirecloth, 482 So. 2d 226, 227-28 (Miss. 1986).

Moreover, "if the claimant is uncorroborated as to the occurrence of a claimed accident and is shown to have made statements inconsistent with the claim, the commission is not bound to accept the testimony as the basis for an award." *Penrod Drilling Co. v. Etheridge*, 487 So. 2d 1330, 1333 (Miss. 1986) (citing Vardaman S. Dunn, *Mississippi Workmen's Compensation*, § 264 (3d Ed. 1982)). The Employer and Carrier would point out that <u>none</u> of the Bates' allegations are consistent with the evidence. Although Bates had listed August 26th as his date of injury throughout his pleadings, during his testimony, he attempted to change his date of injury numerous times, to avoid being trapped by his own medical records. However, none of those dates coincided with his last date of work which was the only thing of which he was certain, that he went to the doctor on his last date of work.

Also, although he testified he told the ER doctor he suffered his injury at work, the treating records reflect no such history until the second visit in August 2005 and that accident occurred on August 22, 2005. Despite Bates' testimony he injured himself at work, the records from King's Daughter reference an injury occurring at https://docs.no.nd/ and that accident occurred on August 22, 2005. Despite Bates' testimony he injured himself at work, the records from King's Daughter reference an injury occurring at home some months prior. More importantly, the only consistent testimony from Bates was that his injury, ER visit and last day of work all occurred on the same day. His last day of work was August 19, 2005, however his first ER visit for back pain was not until August 22, 2005.

At trial, for the first time, the claimant tried to allege and claim the date of the accident at work was August 22, 2005. He based this on the hospital records from King's Daughters hospital which shows by history that the claimant was seen on August 24, and that was the first time there is any written record that the claimant claimed he was injured at work on August 22, 2005. However, the hospital record of August 22, 2005, shows the claimant was complaining of right flank and hip pain of one month's duration.

The claimant testified that he was injured while cutting cardboard. He further testified that the piece of equipment he was using was defective and out of repair and the power steering on it did not work. However, this testimony was clearly contradicted when the claimant called the general manager, Mr. Hughes, as an adverse witness and he testified that none of the equipment the claimant would be using had power steering and none of it was in disrepair. He further testified that contrary to what the claimant testified, they had no supervisor named Eric. Mr. Hughes verified the claimant never reported or claimed any accident or injury occurring on the job to him and the claimant's last day of work was actually August 19, 2005.

The Commission properly judged the weight and sufficiency of Bates' evidence and testimony and found that it did not suffice to overcome the absolute absence of any contemporaneous history of a work injury in the non-biased and independent medical records. Bates repeatedly contradicted himself in his testimony and as such that his version of events simply cannot be relied upon. See, White v. Superior Products, Inc., 515 So. 2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1987). The testimony was clearly incredible and insubstantial and certainly cannot amount to the level of substantial evidence to prove that the claimant sustained an injury while on the job and in the course and scope of his employment. There are too many inconsistencies in the claimant's own

proof that is not capable of sustaining a finding of compensability. Given the totality of the evidence, Bates simply did not prove a work-related injury by a preponderance of the evidence.

Therefore, the Commission's decision was based on substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

As evidenced above, substantial evidence supports the conclusions found in the Commission's Order denying and dismissing the claim. Therefore, Dedicated Management Group, LLC and Employers Insurance of Wausau respectfully request this Court affirm the opinion of the Full Commission entered in this matter.